ILLINOIS STATE BOARD OF INVESTMENT

Responses to Submitted Questions:  Emerging & Minority Hedge Fund of Funds  

This document serves as a formal response to the questions submitted through the process established by the Illinois State Board of Investment (“ISBI” or the “Board”).  As stated in the Request for Competitive Proposals (“RFP”), questions concerning the RFPs had to be submitted in writing via e-mail to the Search Contacts by 3:00 PM, CST, Monday, June 30, 2014.  Responses to questions properly submitted are consolidated into a single Q & A document as detailed below and posted on the Board’s website on or about July 3, 2014.  The Q & A document does not identify the source of the query.

1.
Paragraph 9 of Exhibit B (Representations and Certifications) states that no compensation for this assignment will be due and payable until appropriation of the funds therefor has been enacted and signed into law.  Can you please describe the appropriation process and in particular indicate whether there will be a single appropriation for all compensation due under the Agreement (and if so when that would occur) or if there will be multiple periodic appropriations during the life of the Agreement?  

ISBI is not appropriated and therefore, this provision is not applicable; however, all contracts with a State of Illinois Agency (including ISBI) require this provision in order to be processed.
2.
Questions 32 – 34 pertain to co-investment by the adviser and its principals, and refer to investment in “this product” or “the fund” rather than investment in all portfolios managed by the adviser.  Since there is not yet any fund of one created, we plan to answer the latter.  With regard to Question 34, please clarify whether the question asks whether the investment adviser expects to make its own investment in the ISBI fund of one? If so, is this a preference or a requirement, and at what level? 

Please simply detail the investment advisor’s investment in their existing funds.  It is not expected or required that the investment advisor make an investment alongside ISBI in the fund-of-one.
3.
The RFP indicates that the fund-of-one should be priced at 80 basis points for advisory fees, operating expenses and administrative fees.  In order to assess the operating expenses, will ISBI require either of the following:

A.
That the “fund of one” entity has an annual audit performed by an independent third party auditor?
         Y/N:_____

B.
That the fund of one entity receives tax reporting beyond a single K-1 at the fund of one level?

Y/N:_____ 

Yes.  The fund-of-one will be required to undergo an annual audit; expenses incurred as a result of initiating the audit should be included in the 80 bps fee.  A single K-1 at the FoF level is acceptable.
4.
Question 64 asks how the cash drag will be minimized.  One method of reducing “cash drag” in a portfolio is to arrange for a committed line of credit for the portfolio, but that feature has a cost that many elect to forego by serving as their own credit facility or otherwise.  Please confirm that the proposed 80 bps cap is not expected to include the cost of an optional credit facility that would allow the portfolio to minimize the cash drag associated with a redemption from a hedge fund and subsequent contribution to a new hedge fund.
If a line of credit is used any expenses related to the line can be in addition to the stated management fee.  
5.
The RFP requests information about directorships and board positions held by the investment professionals.  May the response include only positions held with for-profit companies?  [See Question 22]
Respondent should include all for-profit and not-for-profit entities in its response to Question 22.  
6.
In order to assess the ERISA capacity that is available, is ISBI subject to ERISA?  [See Question 81]
ISBI is subject to the Illinois Pension Code, which is modeled off of ERISA; as such, ISBI will elect to be treated as an ERISA Partner even though its assets may or may not be treated as “plan assets” under ERISA.
7.
If the investment adviser does not have a dedicated vehicle or vehicles for Emerging Managers, should the respondent provide information about other fund of hedge fund vehicles in response to Question 82? 
Yes.
8.
In Question 83, if an onshore fund is proposed, is it necessary to respond to this question? 
No.  
9.
In Representation 32, can you please confirm that the underlying hedge funds that are to be invested in by the fund-of-one portfolio will not be subcontractors subject to the process specified there?  
Underlying hedge funds that are to be invested in by the fund-of-one portfolio will not be subcontractors subject to the process stated in Representation 32.

10.
Regarding fund structure, would ISBI consider investing in a separately managed account in which the Fund of Hedge Funds firm has discretion and fiduciary responsibility over the account and ISBI directly owns the underlying hedge fund positions?
Yes; however, a fund-of-one structure is preferable.  
11.
We understand ISBI’s definition of “Emerging Hedge Fund Manager” as defined as “a qualified investment adviser that manages an investment portfolio of at least $10,000,000 but less than $10,000,000,000 and is a ‘minority owned business’, ‘female owned business’ or ‘business owned by a person with a disability’ as those terms are defined in the Business Enterprise for Minorities, Females, and Persons with Disabilities Act.”  Would ISBI also consider including newer/younger hedge funds that have been in existence for less than 3-5 years as part of their definition? 
As stated in the RFP, ISBI’s definition of “minority-owned business” is limited to the definition set forth by the Business Enterprise for Minorities, Females, and Persons with Disabilities Act.  
12.
Does the Fund of Hedge Funds firm need to register as a “business entity” with the Illinois State Board of Elections prior to submitting the RFP or upon winning the mandate? 
Respondent is required to register as a “business entity” prior to submitting the RFP.

13.
Would it be admissible to submit a proof of purchase of additional purchase to meet the $5 million in E&O Insurance requirement? 
Yes.  
14.
How do you wish for [the financial solvency of the firm] to be represented? 
 
Please indicate whether there is any firm level debt.  If so please indicate the level of AUM needed to sustain the business.  If there is no debt, simply state that there is no debt and thus solvency is not an issue.
15.
Do you want use to list the directorships and board positions of our Advisory Board [in relations to the question regarding listing of directorships or board positions held by the investment professionals of other firms]? 
Yes, if the Advisory Board is paid by your firm.  
16.
Many of the questions refer to a “product.”  Our primary service for is the customization of separate accounts of funds for each client.  May we submit our response as it pertains to a service as opposed to a product?  For instance when asked what would lead to the poor performance for this product, we would in our answer, mention factors that lead to a poor performance for a customized separate accounts manager of emerging manager account as it pertains more closely to the services we render.  
Please respond to the question in relation to the portfolio/fund you are proposing to construct for this mandate. 
17.
Please advise how many [legal counsel] biographies are needed.  

Biographies should be provided for any legal counsel that Respondent anticipates will service the ISBI account.

18.
Will performance fees be considered at all- Minimum Qualification #3?

No.
19.
Since this is an onshore multi-strategy fund-of-one portfolio, would we be proposing a fund structure if one does not already exist? [See Question 80]
Yes.  
20.
Minimum assets under management threshold:  Would $480MM qualify?

No.
21.
We are in the process of securing the necessary E&O insurance.  Upon being awarded this mandate, our firm would procure the $5 million errors and omissions insurance requirement.  Would this sequence be acceptable to the Board?

Yes.  
22.
Does Middle Eastern descent/ownership count as a minority?

As stated in the RFP, ISBI’s definition of “minority-owned business” is limited to the definition set forth by the Business Enterprise for Minorities, Females, and Persons with Disabilities Act.  

23.
What is the investment objective of the emerging and minority HFoF mandate in the context of the total asset allocation/portfolio?  Are there annualized return or volatility targets?  What levels of concentration and/or style focus?

There are no specific risk/return targets; this mandate will account for roughly 10% of the overall hedge fund allocation so there is room for this mandate to be more concentrated or more volatile than a standalone mandate (i.e., if this was the only hedge fund allocation).  
24.
Is being a registered minority investment manager a requirement?

No, Respondent is not required to be a registered minority investment manager.

25.
We currently have a partnership with a veteran owned securities company that is a FINRA registered US Broker-Dealer, California-certified Disabled Veteran Business Enterprise (DVBE) and Service Disabled Veteran Owned Small Business (SDVOSB), as well as a certified Minority Business Enterprise (MBE).  Would a joint structure be acceptable to the Board?

This question is irrelevant since Respondent is not required to be an emerging investment manager.
26.
With respect to political contributions, can you clarify how contributions to not yet elected and/or nominated officials should be treated?

As stated in the RFP, Respondents must provide written disclosures of all political contributions made during the preceding five years to a Board Member or a Board Member’s Campaign Committee.  ISBI’s current Board Members are listed on its website at http://www2.illinois.gov/isbi/Pages/Board.aspx.
27.
With regard to Minimum Qualification #7 and Question 78, are the restrictions on owning or controlling assets located in Sudan imposed at the fund of hedge fund portfolio level or on a look-through basis at the underlying hedge fund level?

Restrictions on owning or controlling assets located in Sudan are imposed at both the FoF portfolio level and on a look-through basis at the underlying hedge fund level.  
28.
In several places in the RFP you refer to “fund-of-one”.  Will the fund of one be structured as a legal entity (for example, a Delaware Limited Partnership or LLC), or as a separate account? If your preferred fund structure is a legal entity, will you require a stand-alone, dedicated audit of the legal entity?

The preferred structure is a stand-alone legal entity, which will be required to undergo an annual audit.  
29.
Does the 80 basis point fee include upfront organizational and legal expenses directly and indirectly related to establishing the fund vehicle, as well as annual fund accounting, audit (if required) and Board of Directors (if required) fees?

Yes.  
30.
Pg. 24, item 23, the “disqualifications” appear to relate to the actual ERISA plan (discrimination, matching contributions, etc.) which would not be related to the Investment Manager selected for this fund. Are there specific sections of 411 that we should focus on?

Section 411 of ERISA contains a prohibition on criminals holding certain positions related to benefit plans.  As stated in the RFP, Respondent is required to represent that none of the disqualifiers described in Section 411 of ERISA apply to Respondent.  

31.
Is this search open to institutions who are not based in the U.S? For example, if the FOHF manager be based out of Hong Kong/Singapore.

Yes. 
32.
Similarly, can the underlying fund managers be based outside the U.S? For example, can one of the underlying fund be an Asian HF manager based out of Hong Kong – as such managers can fulfil both the emerging manager and minority criteria.

As stated in the RFP, ISBI’s definition of “minority-owned business” is limited to the definition set forth by the Business Enterprise for Minorities, Females, and Persons with Disabilities Act. 
33.
In Section I, Question 4 (regarding firm’s financial solvency) can you provide further explanation?  Additionally, should the response include just the responding firm or its parent company?

Please indicate whether there is any firm level debt.  If so please indicate the level of AUM needed to sustain the business.  If there is no debt, simply state that there is no debt and thus solvency is not an issue.
34.
In Section I, Question 5 (regarding firm debt), is debt to parent company to be included?  What about debt our parent company may carry.  Our parent company is a publicly traded company and has publicly available annual report and financial statements.  Can we provide a link to those documents in regards to their debt?

Yes, providing the financial information of the parent (as long as they are a majority owner) is sufficient.  
35.
In Section I, Question 7 (regarding minimum asset levels) is a rather open question.  Should our response be based on an assumption of a break even based on no performance and current asset mix/expense base?

Respondent should assume no performance fees but modest expense reduction is acceptable.
36.
Is the mandate for a custom separate account built from the ground up, or is it preferable to invest in a fund-of-one structure that in turn invests in a commingled fund with a track record?  The RFP questions oscillate between asking about the proposed “product”, suggesting the preference is that it invests in an existing fund, and discussing a “fund-of-one”, suggesting a custom separate account.  Please clarify.

Either structure is acceptable; however, a fund-of-one/separate account structure is preferable.
37.
If the mandate is for a separate account, do “operating expenses” include potential regulatory filing fees, legal/initial organization (legal documentation) costs?  Are these fees included in the 80 bps fee cap?

The aforementioned expenses constitute “operating expenses” and should be included in the 80 bps fee cap.

38.
If the fund is a custom separate account, will the client bear the cost of their ERISA bond?

This question is irrelevant since ISBI does not require an ERISA bond.

39.
Will the fund-of-one need to be audited?  If so, will the client bear the cost of the audit outside of the 80 bps fee cap?

Yes.  The fund-of-one will be required to undergo an annual audit; expenses incurred as a result of initiating the audit should be included in the 80 bps fee.
